RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON May 04, 2017 10:10 AM CLERK'S OFFICE

RECEIVED VIA PORTAL

No.		
INO.		

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 46895-6-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MAYTOWN SAND AND GRAVEL, LLC and PORT OF TACOMA,

Plaintiffs/Respondents,

v.

THURSTON COUNTY,

Defendant/Appellant

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mark R. Johnsen, WSBA No. 11050 Steven D. Robinson, WSBA No. 12999 KARR TUTTLE CAMPBELL 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3300 Seattle, Washington 98104-7055 Telephone: (206) 223-1313

Facsimile: (206) 682-7100

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Defendant and Appellant Thurston County ("the County") seeks review of the published decision terminating review of Division Two of the Court of Appeals, entered on April 4, 2017 ("Slip Op."). A copy of the decision is attached as App. 1.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This case presents the following issues warranting this Court's review:

1. LUPA Restrictions on Civil Damages Actions. Must a party first pursue its administrative remedies, and upon receiving an adverse land-use decision following the exhaustion of those remedies, prevail in a land-use petition challenging that decision, before that party may pursue a civil-damage action based on that decision? The Plaintiffs and Respondents Port of Tacoma and Maytown Sand & Gravel chose not to exhaust their administrative remedies from adverse land-use actions, yet were allowed by the Lewis County Superior Court to base state-law tort claims for damages on a challenge to those actions. In affirming an award of millions of dollars in damages against the County, the Court of Appeals held that the Land Use Petition Act places no restrictions on civil damages actions. This holding conflicts with decisions of this Court and published decisions of the Court of Appeals and presents an issue of significant public interest. Review is thus warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4).

- 2. Requirements to Show a Deprivation of Substantive Due Process. The County was found to have deprived Plaintiff and Respondent Maytown of its rights to substantive due process. The Court of Appeals held that Maytown had a protected property interest in a special-use permit for gravel mining, even though that permit was subject to conditions, and even though Maytown's claimed deprivation involved being denied a particular procedure for resolving whether it was in compliance with those conditions, and Maytown had no constitutionally protected right to that procedure. The Court of Appeals also held that the County's actions could be found to have "shocked the conscience," when at most Maytown established that elected public officials had been overzealous in responding to constituent concerns about adverse environmental impacts of Maytown's proposed mining operations. These issues present significant questions of law under the Constitution of the United States, and thus warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).
- 3. Procedural and Substantive Requirements to Recover Attorney's Fees. The Court of Appeals (1) adopted a new exception to the American rule on recovery of attorney's fees, holding that a party may recover pre-litigation fees as damages in a tort action against local government in the land-use context, and (2) awarded Maytown fees on appeal even though it failed to devote a separate section of its brief to its request for fees. These decisions conflict with decisions of this Court and publish decisions of the Court of Appeals. Review is thus warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Port of Tacoma purchased 754 acres of land in Thurston County in 2006, to develop an intermodal freight-transport facility. Exh. 429 at 12; RP 741-46. The property came with a gravel-mining permit issued in 2005, subject to several conditions including water-quality monitoring, which had to be satisfied before mining could begin. Exh. 302 at 3-4.

As economic conditions worsened, the Port shelved its facility plan and, in late 2008, listed the property for sale. Exh. 429 at 13; Exh. 446 at 13-14; RP 774-75, 817, 3083-84. The Port entered into negotiations in 2009 with two individuals, who formed Maytown. RP 779-80, 790, 2208-10; Exhs. 314 ("Southwind"), 385. The Port and Maytown entered into a purchase-and-sale agreement in late 2009. RP 2398, 2541-42; *see also* Exh. 390 at MSG000244.

In February 2010, the County Staff issued a memorandum stating that further water-quality testing beyond what had been done to date would be required to bring the permit into compliance. Exh. 429 at 14; Exhs. 382, 383. The "baseline" for various elements to be established by this additional testing could not be completed until Fall 2010, which would mean mining could not begin that year. Exh. 383 at 3-4; Exh. 386 at 15, 16 n.20.

Concerned the mining venture would fail if mining did not begin in 2010, Maytown—through its land-use lawyer John Hempelmann—asked the Staff in April 2010 to dispense with the additional water testing

through a "minor" amendment. Exh. 429 at 15; Exh. 394 at 1, 3-4. If the Staff granted this amendment, Maytown would be able to begin mining even if mine opponents appealed the granting of the amendment. RP 1168-69, 1358.

The Staff refused, and instead in June 2010 sent the requested water-testing amendment (along with other requested amendments) to the County Hearing Examiner for determination. Exh. 446 at 15; Exh. 55 at 1; RP 1154-55. Because the amendment would consequently be deemed a "major" amendment, this meant that, even if the Hearing Examiner eventually ruled in Maytown's favor, Maytown could not start mining until mine opponents' appeals were resolved. Exh. 371 at 2; Exh. 386 at 15, 16 n.20; RP 1168-69, 1358; *see* Thurston County Code § 20.60.020 ("major adjustment").

By now, Maytown possessed evidence it believed showed the Staff's refusal to grant the requested water-testing amendment was driven by pressure from members of the Board of County Commissioners, whose constituents opposed the mine. Maytown, joined by the Port, argued to the Hearing Examiner that the Staff had succumbed to political pressure and asked the Hearing Examiner to rule that the Staff should not have sent the water-testing amendment to the Hearing Examiner. CP 7530-31, 7533-38 (App. 3), 7543-46 (App. 4); Exh. 446 at 2, 15 n.9 (App. 5).

The Hearing Examiner ruled there was a need for additional testing, Exh. 446 at 30 ("An SUP amendment was required."), and that the Staff had the authority to send the issue of whether to eliminate that

testing to the Hearing Examiner. Exh. 446 at 30-31. Although the Hearing Examiner had ruled against them, Maytown and the Port decided to drop the issue rather than take it to the Board of County Commissioners (the final level of administrative review), concerned that doing so might undermine a future damages case. Exh. 449 (App. 2).

The 2005 special-use permit also required a "five-year review" no later than December 2010. Exh. 303 at 43; Exh. 429 at 10. At the hearing on that review, the Staff proposed that the permit be subject to a more restrictive amended "critical areas" ordinance than the one in effect when the permit had been granted. Exh. 429 at 17, 25-26; RP 1214-15. The Hearing Examiner ruled against the Staff on this point, Ex. 429 at 46, and in April 2011, the Board affirmed that ruling. CP 107; RP 1281. But the Board remanded for further proceedings to ascertain whether all critical areas had previously been identified. CP 107-10.

Maytown and the Port filed LUPA petitions challenging the Board's remand order. CP 1-54, 7643-82. On July 20, 2011, just over four months after the Board's remand order, the Superior Court (Lewis County, Hon. Richard L. Brosey), ruled that the decision to remand for further critical-area inspection had been arbitrary and capricious. CP 111-16.

On July 7, 2011, following the Hearing Examiner's ruling on amendments to the permit, the Board rejected a challenge by mine opponents to a resolution of the water-testing dispute reached by agreement between Maytown and the Staff and approved by the Hearing

Examiner. Exh. 454. Under the agreed resolution, Maytown would continue to monitor levels of various elements, the baseline for which had been established by the additional testing ordered by the Staff in 2010. Exh. 446 at 22, 34.

In November 2011, after Maytown had satisfied all pre-mining conditions, the Staff issued a letter authorizing Maytown to start mining.¹ Exh. 1. Maytown contended that the issuance of this letter should not have been a precondition to start mining, and further contended that the letter contained language that cast an economic pall over the project, and contributed materially to its failure the following year. RP 1501, 1664-65, 3277, 7533 n.3. But Maytown did not pursue administrative relief from these conditions.²

Maytown and the Port sued for tortious interference and misrepresentation, and Maytown also sued for deprivation of substantive due process under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. CP 117-40, 163-85. Before trial, the trial court denied the County's motions to dismiss based on LUPA preemption, collateral estoppel, and insufficient evidence to establish a due process claim. CP 1950-53. The court denied the County's renewed motions at trial. RP 2882-86. Following the 20-day trial, over which Judge Brosey presided, a Lewis County Superior Court jury returned a verdict in favor of the Port and Maytown on their state-law claims, and in

¹ The letter authorized Maytown to take steps to satisfy remaining pre-mining conditions, and then start mining.

 $^{^{\}rm 2}$ The only decision Maytown challenged under LUPA was the remand order in the five-year review.

favor of Maytown on its substantive due process claim. CP 6388-91. The jury awarded the Port \$8,000,000 and Maytown \$4,000,000. CP 6391. The trial court awarded Maytown \$1,130,030 in fees and costs under 42 U.S.C. § 1988. CP 7551-62.

The County appealed, and the Port and Maytown cross-appealed the denial of attorney's fees they had incurred during the permit-conditions dispute. CP 7469, 7482. The Court of Appeals affirmed on the County's appeal and awarded Maytown fees under 42 U.S.C. 1988, and ruled in favor of Maytown on the cross-appeal.

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

A. The Court of Appeals' decision undermines the uniformity policy of the Land Use Petition Act.

The purpose of the Land Use Petition Act, as expressed by the legislature, is to "establish[] uniform, expedited appeal procedures and uniform criteria for reviewing [land-use] decisions, in order to provide consistent, predictable, and timely judicial review." RCW 36.70C.010; see also Durland v. San Juan County, 182 Wn.2d 55, 64, 240 P.3d 191 (2014). Consistent with that purpose, this Court has ruled that LUPA's exhaustion-of-administrative remedies requirement must be strictly enforced. Durland, 182 Wn.2d at 66.

The Court of Appeals excused the Port's and Maytown's failure to exhaust their administrative remedies—their deliberate choice not to do so, in fact—on the ground that "Washington courts have made it clear that LUPA does not apply to '[c]laims provided by any law for monetary

damages or compensation." Slip Op. at 16. The Court of Appeals cited and quoted LUPA subsection 030(1)(c) (RCW 36.70C), and also cited this Court's decision in *Lakey v. Puget Sound Energy, Inc.*, 176 Wn.2d 909, 296 P.3d 860 (2013), and the Court of Appeals' decisions in *Woods View II, LLC v. Kitsap County*, 188 Wn. App. 1, 352 P.3d 807, *rev. denied*, 184 Wn.2d 1015 (2015), and *Libera v. City of Port Angeles*, 178 Wn. App. 669, 316 P.3d 1064 (2013).

The Court of Appeals is wrong about what Washington courts have made clear. The decision in this case conflicts with decisions of this Court and published decisions of the Court of Appeals.

To begin, the Court of Appeals misreads Lakey. In Lakey, this Court held that not first seeking relief through LUPA did not bar an inverse-condemnation claim because claim that sought only "compensation rather than a reversal or modification of a land use decision." 176 Wn.2d at 927. Here, by contrast, the centerpiece of the Port's and Maytown's state-law tort claims was an attack on the correctness of the County's land-use actions, particularly (1) the Staff's decision to require the additional water testing and then not itself dispense with those tests by a minor amendment but instead refer the matter to the Hearing Examiner, and (2) the decision of the Hearing Examiner to uphold the Staff's decisions as a reasonable exercise of discretionary authority.³

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW - 8

³ John Hempelmann's testimony about the land-use procedure choices of the Staff was absolutely clear, *e.g.*, RP 1137-38, 1141-43, 1156-58, 1329-30, 1464 (App. 6), and it was buttressed by the attack on the need for any additional water testing by Charles "Pony" Ellingson, the Port's and Maytown's environmental expert. RP 947, 958-59, (Footnote continued next page)

This distinction between a damages claim that is based on a land-use action not challenged via LUPA and a claim that is independent of a land-use action was expressly recognized by this Court in (now Chief) Justice Fairhurst's opinion for the Court in *Lakey*. Justice Fairhurst reviewed several decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals bearing on the issue and made clear that a damages action *would* be held barred for not first seeking relief through LUPA, if the claim for damages rested on attacking the correctness of the land-use action taken by the local government being sued for damages: "The cases the City cites all involved damage claims where the relief required a judicial determination that the land use decision was invalid or partially invalid; none involved damages claims generally." 176 Wn.2d at 927.⁴ Moreover, unlike the inverse-condemnation claimant in *Lakey*, the relief sought by the Port and Maytown plainly *did* "require...a judicial determination" that the land-use actions of the County were invalid.

In short, the Court of Appeals' decision here conflicts with this Court's comprehensive explication in *Lakey* of how a failure first to pursue relief through LUPA can bar a claim for damages. The decision also conflicts with the holding of the Court of Appeals in *Mercer Island*

967-68, 990. Hempelmann also took issue with the Hearing Examiner's upholding the Staff's referral of the issue as contrary to common sense. RP 1211-13.

⁴ Justice Fairhurst reviewed the particulars of those cases in a footnote (number 11), immediately following the language the County just quoted: *James v. County of Kitsap*, 154 Wn.2d 574, 115 P.3d 286 (2005), *Mercer Island Citizens for Fair Process v. Tent City 4*, 156 Wn. App. 393, 232 P.3d 1163 (2010), *Asche v. Bloomquist*, 132 Wn. App. 784, 133 P.3d 475 (2006), and *Shaw v. City of Des Moines*, 109 Wn. App. 896, 37 P.3d 1255 (2002).

Citizens for Fair Process v. Tent City 4, 156 Wn. App. 393, 401-03, 232 P.3d 1163 (2010), in which a damages claim was held to be barred because the claim was based on challenges to the validity of land-use actions and the claimants had failed first to seek relief through LUPA.⁵ Finally, upholding the Port's and Maytown's state-law damages awards conflicts with this Court's decision in *Durland*, 182 Wn.2d at 66, which held that LUPA's exhaustion-of-administrative remedies requirement must be strictly enforced. The Port and Maytown asked the Hearing Examiner to rule that the Staff erred in sending the water-testing issue to the Examiner rather than resolving it themselves, claiming that the Staff had failed in their duty because they knuckled under to political pressure.⁶ After the Hearing Examiner rejected this challenge, the Port and Maytown deliberately chose to bail from the administrative process midstream, lest the outcome undermine a future damages case. This is not merely a failure to exhaust administrative remedies—it is a deliberate frustration of the administrative process.⁷

_

⁵ The Court of Appeals' reliance on *Woods View II, LLC v. Kitsap County*, 188 Wn. App. 1, 25, 352 P.3d 807, *rev. denied*, 184 Wn.2d 1015 (2015), and *Libera v. City of Port Angeles*, 178 Wn. App. 669, 675 n.6, 316 P.3d 1064 (2013), is misplaced, because in both of those cases the plaintiffs sought damages strictly for delay in issuing decisions that were favorable to them. 188 Wn. App. at 25.

⁶ The record leaves no doubt on this point. CP 7534-35, 7545-46; Exh. 446 at 2, 15 n.9. The Court of Appeals says otherwise. *See* Slip Op. at 20. The court is wrong.

⁷ Although the County is not seeking review of the Court of Appeals' collateralestoppel determination as such, principles of collateral estoppel nonetheless buttress why the Port and Maytown should not have been allowed to escape the legal consequences of their defeat on the crucial issues before the Hearing Examiner. *See Reninger v. Dep't of Revenue*, 134 Wn.2d 437, 449, 951 P.2d 782 (1998) ("Decisions of administrative tribunals may have preclusive effect under Washington law."); *see also* Appellant's (Footnote continued next page)

Finally, by relying on the language of RCW 36.70C.030(1)(c), the Court of Appeals has aligned itself with Justice Sanders' dissent in James v. Kitsap County, 154 Wn.2d 574, 115 P.3d 286 (2005). Justice Sanders would have had this Court transform subsection 030(1)(c) into a substantive exemption for all damage actions, a result that can be reached only by reading that provision in isolation from the rest of LUPA—an approach to statutory interpretation that conflicts with our state's "context" rule. See Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 11-12, 43 P.3d 4 (2002) (modifying Washington's "plain meaning" rule and adopting the "context" approach). Justice Sanders incorrectly ignored LUPA's express purpose of "establishing uniform, expedited appeal procedures and uniform criteria for reviewing such decisions, in order to provide consistent, predictable, and timely judicial review." RCW 36.70C.010; see G-P Gypsum Corp. v. State, Dep't of Revenue, 169 Wn.2d 304, 309-13, 237 P.3d 256 (2010) (holding that statements of purpose are to be considered part of statutory context).

The trial court allowed the Port and Maytown to make the same arguments to the jury that the Hearing Examiner had rejected, as the central basis for recovering damages from the County.⁸ Allowing a jury in

Opening Brief at 56-59, 66, 68; Appellant's Consolidated Reply & Response Brief at 19-25, 31, 34-35.

⁸ The Port and Maytown's closing arguments leave no doubt on this point. After Maytown's land-use lawyer, John Hempelmann, had testified that dealing with the requested amendments without referral to the Hearing Examiner was a matter of common sense, RP 1211-13, counsel in closing argument made exactly the same point using exactly the same language. RP 3740-41, 3873-74 (App. 7). Yet the Hearing Examiner (Footnote continued next page)

a civil-damages action to second guess, long after the fact, a hearing examiner's—unappealed—decision on an issue of land-use law plainly conflicts with LUPA's express purpose of "establishing uniform, expedited appeal procedures and uniform criteria for reviewing such decisions, in order to provide consistent, predictable, and timely judicial review." RCW 36.70C.010. Subsection 030(1)(c) should not be read, as Justice Sanders would have had this Court do in *James* and as the Court of Appeals has now done here, to allow such a result. This subsection should instead be read as merely clarifying that a claim for monetary damages or compensation need not be asserted and prosecuted in a land-use petition proceeding.

In addition, the Court of Appeals' decision that the Port and Maytown were not required to exhaust available administrative remedies as to the part of the Hearing Examiner's decision that was adverse to them because the Hearing Examiner granted the requested amendment of the permit, Slip Op. 17, conflicts with decisions of this Court and of the Court of Appeals holding that a party must challenge a decision that is partially

had rejected exactly this claim, when ruling that referring amendments to the hearing examiner was a proper exercise of staff discretion. Exh. 446 at 30-31.

⁹ At one point the Court of Appeals seemed to suggest that this outcome is acceptable because there is no obligation to pursue relief via a land-use petition except from a "land use decision," and the Hearing Examiner's decision was not a land-use decision because it was not the decision of the highest land-use authority in the county. Slip Op. at 17. While the Court of Appeals is correct that the Hearing Examiner's decision was not a "land use decision" as LUPA defines such a decision, the Court of Appeals ignores that the Port and Maytown deliberately evaded being confronted with such a decision by bailing from the administrative process midstream. And that, of course, is exactly what the exhaustion requirement *is designed to prevent*.

adverse if it wishes to seek damages based on the adversely decided issue. *E.g., James*, 154 Wn.2d at 586 (holding that parties who failed to challenge under LUPA the imposition of impact fees in a decision that granted a permit waived the right later to seek reimbursement of the fees in a damages action); *Harrington v. Spokane County*, 128 Wn. App. 202, 209-15, 114 P.3d 1233 (2005) (holding that a property owner's damages action was barred because he failed to exhaust administrative remedies as to the part of a decision that was adverse to him, even though the same decision also granted a permit).

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