FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/5/2017 2:13 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 94452-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 46895-6-II COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MAYTOWN SAND AND GRAVEL, LLC and PORT OF TACOMA,

Plaintiffs/Respondents,

v.

THURSTON COUNTY,

Defendant/Appellant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

None of the issues raised by the County meets the criteria in RAP 13.4(b). The County's LUPA theory contradicts the statute, as well as precedent of this Court and the Court of Appeals. The County's constitutional theory is simply a veiled attempt to challenge the jury's factual findings. Its claims regarding the award of attorneys' fees under 42 U.S.C. § 1988 were waived and are wrong in any event. Finally, the

County offers no substantive reason that the decision of the Court of Appeals incorrectly interpreted the American Rule.

÷

A. <u>The Court of Appeals properly held that LUPA does not bar</u> this damages action

There is no basis under RAP 13.4 for this Court to review the Court of Appeals' decision regarding LUPA, because that decision is consistent with LUPA and with the prior decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals. The County asserts that, before seeking damages for tortious abuse of regulatory authority, a plaintiff must first pursue LUPA appeals, even if such appeals, with the attendant cost and delay, will increase damages rather than mitigate them, and even if the hearing examiner ruled in favor of the plaintiff's substantive claims. The argument makes no sense.

To start with, it is contrary to the plain language of LUPA, which expressly "does not apply to ... [c]laims provided by any law for monetary damages or compensation." RCW 36.70C.030(1)(c). It is also contrary to this Court's decision in *Lakey v. Puget Sound Energy, Inc.*, 176 Wn.2d 909, 926-27 & n.11, 296 P.3d 860 (2013), which concluded that plaintiffs seeking compensation for inverse condemnation need not first pursue a LUPA appeal. This Court also determined that the cases the County relies upon are inapposite to a claim, such as the one presented here, that "only seeks compensation rather than a reversal or modification

-7-

of a land use decision." 176 Wn.2d at 925.

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case is also consistent with all other appellate decision addressing the issue, most recently, Woods View II, LLC v. Kitsap County, 188 Wn. App. 1, 25, 352 P.3d 807 (2015). Woods View sued for damages arising from delay in obtaining a favorable land use decision. 188 Wn. App. 1, 25, 352 P.3d 807 (2015). In its crossappeal, Kitsap County made the same argument Thurston County makes here - that the plaintiff should first have appealed the favorable land use decision under LUPA. Id. at 24-25. After observing that the plaintiff there was "not challenging the actual land use decisions below because it received all of the permits it asked for nor is it challenging any conditions imposed," the Court of Appeals ruled that RCW 36.70C.030(1)(c) excused the plaintiff from seeking relief under LUPA before filing an action for damages. Id. Woods View is on all fours with this case. See also Libera v. City of Port Angeles, 178 Wn. App. 669, 675 n.6, 316 P.3d 1064 (2013) (plaintiff seeking damages for intentional interference with economic relationship need not pursue LUPA appeals); Holy Ghost Revival Ministries v. City of Marysville, 98 F.Supp.3d 1153 (2015) (failure to pursue LUPA appeal does not bar claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983).

The cases the County relies on hold only that when an unfavorable

-8-

"land use decision"¹ causes damage, a court must reverse the decision under LUPA before a plaintiff can recover. *See Lakey*, 176 Wn.2d at 926-27 & n.11 (collecting cases). This is because even an incorrect land use decision becomes valid as a matter of law if not successfully appealed under LUPA. *Chelan County v. Nykreim*, 146 Wn.2d 904, 925-26, 52 P.3d 1 (2002). However, where the land use decision did *not* cause the damages, tort victims may seek an award of damages without filing a LUPA appeal. *Id.; Woods View*, 184 Wn.2d at 25.

The County incorrectly asserts the Court of Appeals adopted the interpretation this Court rejected in *James v. Kitsap County*. Pet. at 11. In fact, this Court expressly declined to rule on this issue because, as the majority wrote, "[a]t no time have the Developers argued they are not subject to the procedural requirements of LUPA because their claims fall within one of the exceptions enumerated in RCW 36.70C.030(1)." 154 Wn.2d 574, 115 P.3d 286 (2005).

Further, the County's claim makes no sense because the Plaintiffs *prevailed* on their land use claims and therefore could not have pursued an appeal. As is the case in ordinary appellate practice,² LUPA requires the

¹ LUPA defines "land use decision" in relevant part as the "final determination" on an "application for a project permit or other governmental approval required by law before real property may be improved, developed, modified, sold, transferred, or used". RCW 36.70C.020(2).

² See, e.g., RAP 3.1 and RCW 34.05.526.

appellant to be aggrieved in order to appeal.³ The County asserts that Plaintiffs should have appealed the July 2011 decision by the Board of County Commissioners to grant the amendments to the SUP that the County required Maytown to seek – a decision that came after the Commissioners' tortious actions had already caused more than fifteen months of delay. The County argues that Plaintiffs should have appealed the Commissioners' favorable land use decision because the prior, also favorable, SEPA administrative decision by the Hearing Examiner had not agreed with all of the particulars of Maytown's argument. But mere disagreement with the reasoning of an administrative tribunal's decision does not establish aggrievement. *See Henrickson v. State*, 140 Wn.2d 686, 691 n.1, 2 P.3d 473 (2000); *City of Tacoma v. Taxpayers of City of Tacoma*, 108 Wn.2d 679, 685, 743 P.2d 793, 796 (1987).

In fact, the law actually *prohibited* Maytown from appealing these decisions. SEPA and the Thurston County Code absolutely prohibit additional administrative appeals of Hearing Examiner SEPA decisions.⁴ And as the prevailing party on the underlying decision, Maytown could not have appealed this underlying decision to grant the SUP amendments that Maytown requested. Nor could it appeal the Hearing Examiner's

³ See RCW 36.70C.070(7)–(8) (requiring statement of "errors" in challenged decision, as well as facts supporting alleged errors).

⁴ RCW 43.21C.075 (administrative appeals "[s]hall allow no more than one agency appeal proceeding on each procedural determination"); *accord* WAC 197-11-680(3)(a); Thurston County Code 17.09.160.K (prohibiting second administrative SEPA appeal).

SEPA decision because SEPA appeals "shall be of the governmental action together with its accompanying environmental determinations." RCW 43.21C.075. Hence, Maytown could not have appealed the Hearing Examiner's SEPA decision even if it had been *unfavorable* because the underlying decision regarding the SUP amendments was *favorable*.

Even if one assumes *arguendo* that the Hearing Examiner's decision had been adverse to Maytown *and* assumes that Maytown had a SEPA appeal available to it, no LUPA appeal would have been required because tortious interference lies if government acts for "improper purposes," even if the means employed are otherwise legal. *Pleas v. City of Seattle*, 112 Wn.2d 794, 803-04, 774 P.2d 1158 (1989). The Commissioners and staff acted for the improper purpose of delaying the mine, even if nothing they did was otherwise improper. The Hearing Examiner's favorable decision, however, was not tortious.

LUPA exists to provide a clear and expedited means to resolve challenges to "land use decisions." As the Legislature recognized when it excluded damages action from its coverage, LUPA's expedited, closedrecord appeal of limited issues, with no discovery, is ill-suited to damages actions. The Court of Appeals correctly applied the plain language of RCW 36.70C.030(1)(c), and correctly recognized that Plaintiffs mitigated their damages by not appealing a favorable land use decision. There is no reason for this Court to review this decision of the Court of Appeals.

B. <u>The Court Of Appeals Decision Does Not Involve A Significant</u> Or Novel Question Of Constitutional Law.

1. The Appeals Court's affirmance of the jury award to Maytown under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 presents no reviewable issue

Applying the legal standard the County (Pet. 13-14) concedes is correct, the jury concluded that the County's abuses destroyed Maytown's property rights in a manner that "shocks the conscience," RP 3971, justifying damages under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. In upholding this conclusion, the Court of Appeals properly followed both Washington and federal law. The County identifies no conflict justifying further review.

The County claims that, because Maytown's vested permits had conditions, Maytown's property rights were not protected by the Constitution. This is wrong. This Court has held repeatedly that when, as here, a government agency issues a final permit allowing a landowner to develop its property, a vested property right protected by the U.S. and Washington Constitutions is created. *See Mission Springs, Inc. v. City of Spokane*, 134 Wn.2d 947, 958, 954 P.2d 250 (1998) ("development rights are beyond question a valuable right in property" (citation omitted)). This is true even if the permit has conditions so long as the conditions impose "significant substantive restrictions" on government decision-making. *Id.*, 134 Wn.2d at 963; *Bateson v. Geisse*, 857 F.2d 1300, 1304-05 (9th Cir.

-12-

1988). The water quality conditions relied upon by the County here were so restricted. As long as Maytown satisfied those conditions, it was permitted to mine. The County could not treat the conditions, as it did here, as a license to destroy Maytown's property rights through delay. Nor could it use contrived procedures to create a Catch-22 – Maytown was required to meet several pre-mining SUP conditions but the County's invented procedures barred land-disturbing activities and thereby prevented Maytown from meeting these conditions.

The County cites *Dorr v. Butte County*, involving a Section 1983 claim by a probationary employee. 795 F.2d 875, 876 (9th Cir. 1986). While a probationary employee has no vested property right in employment, once the employment becomes permanent, employment vests as a property right. *Cleveland Bd. of Educ. v. Loudermill*, 470 U.S. 532, 538-39 (1985); *Wheaton v. Webb-Petett*, 931 F.2d 613, 616–17 (9th Cir. 1991). The vested right to employment, equivalent to Maytown's vested land use rights here, cannot be denied without due process of law. *Loudermill*, 470 U.S. at 542. Because Maytown's property rights were vested, the Court of Appeals acted consistently with well-established case law in upholding the jury's verdict.

The County's claim that its conduct did not, as a matter of law, shock the conscience is equally without merit. At bottom, the County

-13-

simply disagrees with the jury's "shocks the conscience" finding. But, as the Appeals Court correctly recognized (slip op. 21-22), the jury's findings must be upheld unless "clearly unsupported by substantial evidence," and the inferences to be drawn from the evidence and the credibility of witnesses are matters for the jury and not the courts. *Burnside v. Simpson Paper Co.*, 123 Wn.2d 93, 107-08, 864 P.2d 937 (1994) (*citing State v. O'Connell*, 83 Wn.2d 797, 839, 523 P.2d 872 (1974)). The Appeals Court's deference to the jury is particularly appropriate in the context of Section 1983 substantive due process violations, which are necessarily fact-intensive. *See, e.g., Del Monte Dunes at Monterey, Ltd. v. City of Monterey*, 920 F.2d 1496, 1508 (9th Cir. 1990).

Further, the County fails to identify any conflict between the Appeals Court's opinion and established case law. In fact, the jury's finding that the County's gross misconduct violated Section 1983 is consistent with the conclusions of this Court and other Courts of Appeal, which have often found Section 1983 violations in circumstances far less egregious than in this case. *See, e.g., Mission Springs*, 134 Wn.2d at 965-66 (delay in issuing grading permit for permitted development violated Section 1983); *Lutheran Day Care*, 119 Wn.2d 91, 96-97 & 124-25, 829 P.2d 746 (1992); *Norquest/RCA-W Bitter Lake Partnership v. Seattle*, 72 Wn. App. 467, 481, 865 P.2d 18 (upholding Section 1983) damage award

where City arbitrarily delayed issuance of building permit in response to political pressure and improperly sought to require master use permit), *rev. denied*, 124 Wn.2d 1021 (1994).

It is likewise consistent with federal case law. *See, e.g., Del Monte Dunes*, 920 F.2d at 1508; *Bateson*, 857 F.2d at 1302-03; *Royal Crown Day Care, Inc. v. Dept. of Health*, 746 F.3d 538, 544-45 (2d Cir. 2014) (defendant's decision to shut down day care center based on improper motive states claim under Section 1983); *Cine SK8, Inc. v. Town of Henrietta*, 507 F.3d 778, 785 (2d Cir. 2007) (permit process was tainted with "fundamental procedural irregularity"); *County Concrete Corp. v. Township of Roxbury*, 442 F.3d 159, 177 (3d Cir. 2006) (Township's "obstructive course of conduct" states a substantive due process claim); *Simi Investment Co. v. Harris County*, 236 F.3d 240, 251 -54 (5th Cir. 2000), cert. denied, 534 U.S. 1022 (2001); *Brady v. Town of Colchester*, 863 F.2d 205, 208-09, 213 (2nd Cir. 1988) : *Wilkerson v. Johnson*, 699 F.2d 325 (6th Cir. 1983).⁵

⁵ See also, e.g., Schneider v. County of Sacramento, 2016 WL 3213553, at *39 (E.D. Cal. June 9, 2016) (evidence that county imposed large increase in mine reclamation bond due to political concerns rather than legitimate interest in enforcing laws states a substantive due process claim), appeal pending; David Hill Development, LLC v. City of Forest Grove, 2012 WL 5381555 at *24-*25 (D. Or. 2012); Ruff v. County of Kings, 2008 WL 4287638 at *13 (N.D. Cal. 2008).

2. The Court of Appeals properly awarded costs under 42 U.S.C. § 1988 and the County's contrary arguments fail to justify review by this Court

Although it filed a 48-page reply brief at the Court of Appeals, the County did not object to the request for costs, including attorneys' fees, until after the Court of Appeals had granted the request. The County thus waived the issue. *See, e.g., Fisher v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 240, 252, 961 P.2d 350 (1998) ("This court does not generally consider issues raised for the first time in a petition for review."); *State v. Halstien*, 122 Wn.2d 109, 130, 857 P.2d 270 (1993) (same).

The County's arguments regarding attorneys' fees fail on the merits, as well. The County incorrectly asserts that Maytown requested attorneys' fees on appeal only in the 'Conclusion' section of its principal brief, and therefore failed to comply with RAP 18.1(b). Maytown's principal brief included a 14-page section addressing the County's attempts to escape liability under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, specifically arguing that Maytown is "entitled to damages under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and attorneys' fees and costs under 42 U.S.C. § 1988 because the County," acting under color of state law, "subjected Maytown to a deprivation of substantive process." Maytown's Constitutional right to due Port/Maytown Opening Br. at 78. Maytown therefore plainly satisfied RAP 18.1. See, e.g., Bay v. Jensen, 147 Wn. App. 641, 661, 196 P.3d 753,

-16-

763 (2008) (Rule 18.1(b) "requires argument and citation to authority to advise us of the appropriate grounds for an award of attorney fees and costs"); *Blueberry Place Homeowners Ass'n v. Northward Homes, Inc.*, 126 Wn. App. 352, 363, 110 P.3d 1145, 1152 (2005) (same).

Even if the County's claim were not waived and were factually correct, it should be rejected for two additional reasons. First, the Court of Appeals correctly applied Section 1988 to award Maytown's fees on appeal, slip op. at 28-29, and the County's argument alleges, at most, a technical error in applying RAP 18.1, but no substantive disagreement with any case justifying review under RAP 13.4(b). Second, Section 1988 creates a federal right to attorneys' fees for litigants who bring a successful claim under Section 1983 and contrary state requirements are therefore unenforceable. *Bernhardt v. County of Los Angeles*, 339 F.3d 920, 928 (9th Cir. 2003) (Section 1988 may bar a "statute, policy, or practice" precluding payment of attorneys' fees in Section 1983 cases).

Plaintiffs respectfully request an award of attorneys' fees for filing this response in accordance with 42 U.S.C. § 1988 and RAP 18.1(j).

C. <u>The Court Of Appeals Decision Is Consistent With Other</u> Authority Regarding The Award of Attorney's Fees.

1. The Court of Appeals applied the American Rule consistent with Washington law.

As the Court of Appeals wrote, "when an intentional tort causes

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